A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in refusing to excuse a juror who knew 

the complaining witness. 

2. The trial court erred in giving a first aggressor instruction. 

3. The trial court erred in refusing to give Sullivan’s proposed 

instruction that the force reasonably necessary increases with the number of 

persons against whom such force is used. 

4. The prosecutor committed egregious and ill intentioned 

misconduct during closing argument. 

5. In the unlikely event appellate costs become an issue in this 

appeal, this court should exercise its discretion and decline to impose them 

given that Sullivan is indigent and has no ability to pay them. 

 Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. When a sitting juror reveals potential bias because he 

recognizes the complaining witness during testimony and believes he had 

met the complaining witness, was friends on social media, and likely had 

mutual friends, does the trial court err in denying the defense’s motion to 

excuse the juror for cause? 

2. Did the trial court err in giving a first aggressor instruction 

where the initial act of aggression consisted of either words alone or a 

single continuing course of charged assaultive conduct? 
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3. Did the trial court err in refusing to give a proposed defense 

instruction that correctly stated that the amount of force reasonably 

necessary may vary with the number of assailants faced by the person 

claiming lawful use of force? 

4. The prosecutor argued Dawn Marie Sullivan was not 

credible because her testimony was intended to deceive the jurors into 

believing she experienced an attempted sexual assault in order to gain 

their sympathy.  However, no evidence adduced at trial indicated Sullivan 

believed she was the victim of an attempted sexual assault.  Were the 

prosecutor’s arguments flagrant and ill intentioned (and therefore 

incapable of being cured by instruction) because they improperly appealed 

to jurors’ passions and prejudices and because they were based on 

evidence outside the record? 

5. Under this court’s current approach to appellate costs, any 

objection to such costs must be made prior to a decision on the merits and 

before the prevailing party is even known.  Therefore, in the event this 

court erroneously affirms Sullivan’s conviction, should this court exercise 

discretion in the decision terminating review by declining to impose 

appellate costs on Sullivan based on her indigence? 
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B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Sullivan with second degree assault with a deadly 

weapon for assaulting Christopher Bohannon on October 29, 2012 with a 

knife.  CP 1.  The State amended the information to include a second count 

of second degree assault against Robert Cessill and a third count of bail 

jumping.  CP 9-10.  The State requested dismissal of the second degree 

assault against Cessill before trial and agreed to sever the bail jumping 

charge.  CP 11, 13; RP 10. 

The trial proceeded solely on Sullivan’s alleged second degree 

assault against Bohannon.  However, the trial testimony disclosed three 

divergent versions of events. 

Dawn Sullivan 

Sullivan stated she began spending more time with Bohannon in 

October 2012 because he was helping her look for a new apartment and 

providing a telephone where Section 8 personnel could reach her.  RP 397, 

400-01.  Sullivan stated that Bohannon was loud, angry, and intimidating, 

which made her anxious on several occasions.  RP 403. 

On the evening of October 29, 2012, Sullivan informed Bohannon 

that he was intimidating her by his angry behavior.  RP 405.  Sullivan left 

Bohannon’s apartment to give Bohannon an opportunity to calm down.  RP 

405-06. 
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While out, Sullivan met and began speaking to Robert Cessill at a 

bus stop.  RP 406.  Sullivan thought Cessill was cute and thought Bohannon 

would think so too, so Sullivan decided to bring Cessill back to Bohannon’s 

apartment.  RP 407-08.  Cessill, who was already drunk, continued drinking 

with Bohannon, and eventually passed out.  RP 410. 

After Cessill fell asleep, Sullivan and Bohannon were seated side-by-

side on the couch when Sullivan asked to smoke Bohannon’s marijuana.  RP 

410-11.  Bohannon “was all super sassy, like, That’s my medical pot.”  RP 

411.  Sullivan also had a medical marijuana prescription and explained to 

jurors that she could easily go to a dispensary to replace Bohannon’s 

marijuana.  RP 411.  Sullivan told Bohannon he was being selfish, and 

Bohannon dramatically responded, “Oh, really?  Oh, really?”  RP 411.  

Sullivan then told Bohannon he was being “greedy, selfish, and controlling,” 

at which point Bohannon “lost his mind.  He got in my face and was 

screaming so loud at me that spit was getting in my face.”  RP 412.  

Bohannon yelled, “Get the F out,” but Sullivan wanted to get Cessill because 

she “thought it would be rude, like really impolite and tacky to bring 

somebody to somebody’s house and then just -- and leave.”  RP 413. 

As Sullivan was attempting to rouse Cessill, Bohannon pounced on 

Sullivan, and both Sullivan and Bohannon began rolling around on the floor.  

RP 413-14.  Sullivan did not see Cessill become involved in the physical 
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altercation but felt “two boys on top of me” and rolled around on the ground 

with both of them.  RP 414-15.  Sullivan stated, “I just know that I was 

getting hurt . . . . And I was scared and people were putting their hands on 

my body and holding me against my will for no reason.”  RP 415.  Sullivan 

said she was terrified.  RP 415.   

Sullivan “wiggled out, jumped over the couch,” knew knives were in 

the kitchen on a big magnet strip, and “grabbed the knife.”  RP 416.  

Sullivan stated she was scared and “needed to protect” herself; she also 

stated the knife was closer than the exit.  RP 427.  Bohannon grabbed 

Sullivan and got the knife away within seconds.  RP 416, 428.  Bohannon 

threw Sullivan out the door.  RP 416.  Sullivan did not even know Bohannon 

had been cut.  RP 416, 428.  Bohannon exclaimed, “You’re F’ed, I’m a 

lawyer,” and told Sullivan police were coming.  RP 416. 

Christopher Bohannon 

Bohannon stated Sullivan had stayed with him off and on in October 

2012.  RP 120-22.  On October 29, 2012, Sullivan introduced Bohannon to 

her daughter until the daughter’s father came to pick her up.  RP 129.  

Bohannon and Sullivan continued to hang out in Bohannon’s apartment, 

drinking.  RP 129. 

Bohannon started to fall asleep on the couch close to midnight.  RP 

130.  He heard the front door to his apartment close and “figured that 
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[Sullivan] had left for the night.”  RP 130.  After Bohannon fell asleep, 

Sullivan woke him to ask if she could bring a friend into Bohannon’s 

apartment.  RP 131.  Bohannon told Sullivan no, but Sullivan brought Cessill 

into the apartment anyway.  RP 131.  Bohannon awoke and he, Sullivan, and 

Cessill began to hang out.  RP 131.  Cessill became tired and began falling 

asleep; Cessill asked if he could stay the night in the apartment until he left 

in the morning to catch a flight.  RP 131-32. 

After Cessill fell asleep, Bohannon stated Sullivan asked to smoke 

some of Bohannon’s medical marijuana.  RP 133.  Bohannon said no, 

explaining it was to be used only for his arm pain.  RP 133.   

According to Bohannon, Sullivan “just flipped out and got really 

upset, kind of like a tantrum.  And then she got up and she said, Well, then 

I’m leaving and she got very upset.”  RP 133.  Then Sullivan went to Cessill, 

tried to wake him, and pulled him off the couch.  RP 134.  Bohannon stated 

Sullivan told Cessill, “you’re coming with me or I’m going to punch you in 

the face.”  RP 134. 

Bohannon intervened, stating, “Nobody’s going to hurt anybody.  

You’re not going to punch anybody here.  So I kind of got between them a 

little bit and . . . I asked her to leave at that point.  I told her that she seems 

like she’s getting very aggressive and I’d like her to leave.”  RP 135. 
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Bohannon and Sullivan proceeded to the front door of the apartment 

“but [Sullivan] ran across me the wrong way into the kitchen area.”  RP 135-

36.  “[W]hen she ran in to the kitchen, I came in there and she hit me in the 

nose a couple of times” with “[h]er fists.”  RP 136.  Bohannon threw 

Sullivan to the ground at least twice.  RP 136, 211.  Bohannon stated 

Sullivan was on all fours and he was attempting to calm her dawn.  RP 137.  

Sullivan was breathing heavily and according to Bohannon “clearly fe[lt] 

defensive in some kind of way or something.”  RP 138.   

Sullivan, after having remained on the floor for 30 seconds to two 

minutes, “twirled around and got up and grabbed [Bohannon’s] kitchen 

knife, [his] big one.”  RP 142.  Bohannon grabbed at the knife, cutting his 

hand; Sullivan swung the knife, cutting Bohannon’s forearm.  RP 142-43, 

145, 217-18. 

Cessill came to Bohannon’s rescue, coming “out of nowhere and 

pretty much grabbed her” and “pulled her backwards on to the couch” while 

Bohannon “went for the knife or her arm.”  RP 147.  Sullivan passed out 

because Cessill had apparently placed Sullivan in a choke hold.  RP 149, 

151.  Bohannon “grabbed all the other knives which are on the magnetic 

strip” “went to [his] bedroom and threw them on the other side of the bed 

just in case [Sullivan] did the same thing and ran back to get another knife or 
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something.”  RP 149.  Bohannon then ran out of the apartment and called 

911.  RP 149-50.  

In the middle of Bohannon’s testimony, Juror 9 informed the court 

that he was fairly certain he knew Bohannon, believed they might be 

friends on social media, and also thought they had mutual friends.  RP 

167-69.  Defense counsel moved to excuse the juror for cause, which the 

trial court denied.  RP 172-73. 

Robert Cessill 

On October 29, 2012, Cessill was in Seattle during a lengthy layover 

on his way from Alaska to California.  RP 347.  He decided to go downtown 

rather than stay at the airport.  RP 347. 

When Cessill was barhopping, he met Sullivan, who invited him to 

her friend’s house.  RP 347.  Cessill arrived at Bohannon’s apartment and 

conversed with Bohannon about politics.  RP 354.  Cessill fell asleep on 

Bohannon’s couch.  RP 348. 

Cessill stated he woke up to Sullivan standing over him.  RP 348, 

355.  Cessill testified that Sullivan stated “I’m going to punch you in the 

face” or “I’m going to punch him in the fucking face.”  RP 348, 355.  When 

Cessill opened his eyes, Sullivan told him that she needed to leave the 

apartment right now and that Cessill needed to “get the fuck out right now.”  

RP 348, 356.  Cessill said Bohannon then stated “Uh, actually, how about 
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you leave” to Sullivan.  RP 348.  Bohannon also reportedly told Sullivan to 

leave Cessill alone.  RP 356. 

Cessill testified Sullivan went to the kitchen and came out with a 

knife, swung the knife around, and cut Bohannon a couple times.  RP 358, 

366.  Cessill testified Sullivan never hit Bohannon with her fists.  RP 360.   

According to Cessill, “it took kind of a few seconds to, like, realize 

what was going on . . . . [W]hen I gauged the situation I guess I just got up 

and put her in the rear naked choke” which is “a choke hold that is typically 

used in jujitsu as a submission move around -- underneath the neck, arm and 

your bicep.”  RP 369.  According to Cessill, Sullivan lost consciousness, 

dropping the knife.  RP 370. 

At that point Bohannon went to the kitchen “real quick and grabbed 

the rest of his kitchen knives and hid them and then ran out the door on his 

phone.”  RP 370.  Sullivan regained consciousness, looked for her items, and 

left.  Cessill testified that before she left, Sullivan told Cessill he was cute.  

RP 371-72.  Cessill spoke to police and provided them with a summary of 

what happened.  RP 372. 

In light of the differing versions of events, the trial court instructed 

the jury on self defense.  CP 41-44.  Over defense objection, the trial court 

included an initial aggressor instruction, which stated in part, “if you find 

beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that 
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defendant’s acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-

defense is not available as a defense.”  CP 40; 493-98, 517. 

As part of the self defense instructions, defense counsel, based on 

this court’s decision in State v. Irons, 101 Wn. App. 544, 4 P.3d 174 (2000), 

proposed the instruction, 

two or more people are more likely to inflict injury than only 
one such person, the amount of force that is necessary to 
prevent the infliction of injury, and thus is not unlawful, may 
vary with the number of persons the defendant reasonably 
believes are about to commit or assist in an offense against a 
person. 

CP 75; RP 485-86.  Despite it being a correct statement of the law, and 

supported by Sullivan’s testimony, the trial court refused to give this 

instruction.  CP 486. 

During closing, the State argued, 

According to defendant’s versions of events, [Cissell]’s kind 
of routed up on the couch, and then he notices that Ms. 
Sullivan and [Bohannon] have fallen to the ground.  So, 
according to Ms. Sullivan, he apparently just kind of jumps in 
and starts grabbing her body?  And why does she [say] 
grabbing her body?  Because she wants to have the strongest 
emotional reaction to you because we all realize that any kind 
of sexual assault is heinous and . . . she wants us to have that 
reaction. 

RP 543-44.  However, Sullivan never testified or indicated in any way that 

she feared or believed she was experiencing a sexual assault during the 

physical altercation between herself, Bohannon, and Cessill.  Indeed, no 

evidence of sexual assault, perceived or actual, appears in the record at all. 
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The jury found Sullivan guilty of second degree assault.  CP 23; RP 

592-95.  The jury also returned a special verdict that Sullivan was armed 

with a deadly weapon when she committed the second degree assault.  CP 

22; RP 593-95. 

The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence downward of zero 

months for the second degree assault based on RCW 9.94A.535(1)(a), which 

establishes a mitigating circumstance when “[t]o a significant degree, the 

victim was an initiator, willing participant, aggressor, or provoker of the 

incident.”  CP 98, 112-14; RP 619.  For the deadly weapon enhancement, the 

trial court imposed a 12-month sentence.  CP 98; RP 620.  The trial court 

credited Sullivan’s time spent in King County Community Center for 

Alternative Programs against the 12-month sentence for the deadly weapon 

enhancement.  CP 98; RP 620, 623. 

This timely appeal follows.  CP 103. 

C. ARGUMENT  

1. THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO EXCUSE A JUROR 
ACQUAINTED WITH THE COMPLAINING WITNESS 
DENIED SULLIVAN THE RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL 
JURY 

“Under the Sixth Amendment and article 1, section 22 of the state 

constitution, a defendant is guaranteed the right to a fair and impartial jury.”  

State v. Rupe, 108 Wn.2d 734, 748, 743 P.2d 210 (1987).  Under RCW 
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2.36.110, the trial court must dismiss a juror “who . . . has manifested 

unfitness as a juror by reason of bias, prejudice, indifference, inattention, or 

any physical or mental defect or by reason of conduct or practices 

incompatible with proper and efficient jury service.”  Any party has the right 

to challenge a juror for cause.  CrR 6.4(c). 

“Actual bias” means “the existence of a state of mind on the part of 

the juror in reference . . . to either party, which satisfies the court that the 

challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to 

the substantial rights of the party challenging . . . .”  RCW 4.44.170(2).  “The 

question for the judge is whether the challenged juror can set aside 

preconceived ideas and try the case fairly and impartially.”  Hough v. 

Stockbridge, 152 Wn. App. 328, 341, 216 P.3d 1077 (2009).  The trial 

court’s decision to remove or retain a juror is reviewed for abuse of 

discretion.  State v. Jorden, 103 Wn. App. 221, 226, 11 P.3d 866 (2000). 

In the midst of Bohannon’s lengthy trial testimony, Juror 9 brought 

to the court’s attention that he was acquainted with Bohannon: “When I saw 

him, it . . . became apparent to me that I’m reasonably confident I have met 

him before, and I believe we have mutual friends in common . . . . I can’t 

recall actually having a conversation with him.”  RP 166.  Juror 9 stated he 

and Bohannon “may be friends on social media” and “seeing [Bohannon] 

and hearing him talk it seemed to become perfectly clear that I may know 
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him and there may be some connection through social media.”  RP 166.  

Upon defense counsel’s questioning, Juror 9 stated Bohannon “looked 

familiar and then when he started talking.  The voice and the face I 

remembered seeing.”  RP 169.  Juror 9 also indicated “I feel like we were 

introduced,” and noted he met a lot of people through his political work.  RP 

170.  Juror 9 explained that, per the court’s instructions not to “do any 

research on people,” he did not confirm he and Bohannon were acquainted 

through social media or otherwise.  RP 167, 169.  In response to the 

prosecutor’s questions, Juror 9 stated he did not believe his familiarity with 

Bohannon would affect his assessment of Bohannon’s credibility.  RP 168. 

Following questioning, defense counsel requested that the court 

excuse Juror 9.  RP 173.  The trial court denied this request: “I’m not 

excusing anybody on the off chance that they now maybe met somebody in 

an inconsequential meeting because he doesn’t remember if, if he actually 

met him, and he doesn’t even know if it’s the same person.”  RP 173. 

Here, Juror 9 stated he was confident he had met Bohannon, believed 

they had mutual friends, recognized both Bohannon’s voice and face, and 

also thought they were friends on social media.  Although Juror 9 stated his 

familiarity with Bohannon would not affect his assessment of Bohannon’s 

credibility, his immediate recognition of Bohannon as someone he has met 

and as a possible social media friend suggests otherwise.  Juror 9, having 
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recognized Bohannon, would naturally have felt an affinity for Bohannon’s 

story.  Moreover, Juror 9’s belief that he knew Bohannon from being 

introduced through political work was bolstered by Cessill’s repeated 

testimony that Bohannon was “pretty politically informed” and that they had 

good conversation about politics.  RP 347, 353.  Based on being acquainted 

with Bohannon, Juror 9 would have given undue credence to Bohannon’s 

version of events and his social media friendship and friendships in common 

placed additional pressure to find Sullivan guilty.  The trial court erred by 

refusing to excuse Juror 9 for actual bias. 

When the trial court should have excused a juror for cause and this 

juror remains and deliberates to a guilty verdict, the remedy is a new trial.  

State v. Birch, 151 Wn. App. 504, 512, 213 P.3d 63 (2009).  This court 

should accordingly reverse and remand for retrial. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT’S ERRONEOUS FIRST 
AGGRESSOR INSTRUCTION REQUIRES REVERSAL 

The trial court instructed the jury on self defense.  CP 41-44; RP 529-

30.  The court also gave a first aggressor instruction: 

No person may, by any intentional violent act 
reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a 
necessity for acting in self-defense and thereupon use, offer, 
or attempt to use force upon or toward another person.  
Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant’s acts and 
conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense 
is not available as a defense. 
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CP 40; RP 529.  Defense counsel objected to this instruction.  RP 497, 517. 

Washington courts disfavor aggressor instructions.  State v. Birnel, 

89 Wn. App. 459, 473, 949 P.2d 433 (1998), overruled on other grounds as 

stated in In re Pers. Restraint of Reed, 137 Wn. App. 401, 408, 153 P.3d 890 

(2007).  Aggressor instructions make self defense claims more burdensome, 

which is counterintuitive because the State bears the burden of disproving 

self defense beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Riley, 137 Wn.2d 904, 910 

n.2, 976 P.2d 624 (1999).  “Few situations come to mind where the necessity 

for an aggressor instruction is warranted.”  State v. Arthur, 42 Wn. App. 120, 

125 n.1, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985). 

This case did not present a situation warranting an aggressor 

instruction.  By giving the aggressor instruction, the jury was permitted to 

conclude Sullivan was the first aggressor because she became enraged and 

engaged in assaultive conduct.  But the act of aggression justifying the 

instruction cannot be the charged assault itself.  Nor can words alone qualify 

as an act of first aggression.  Because the evidence did not support an 

aggressor instruction, reversal is required.

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