FILED
Feb 16, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73217-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/ Cross-Appellant,

٧.

DAWN SULLIVAN,

Appellant/ Cross-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE CAROL SCHAPIRA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/ CROSS-APPELLANT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

Sullivan does not dispute that there was evidence that she began the physical confrontation when she punched Bohannon in the face; she asserts the acts were a "single course of conduct culminating in the knife cut" and so cannot support a first-aggressor instruction. App. Br. at 17. Neither of the cases on which Sullivan relies support her assertion that the provocation must not be part of

a single "course of conduct." In <u>State v. Brower</u>,⁵ the court found a first-aggressor instruction unjustified when the only wrongful conduct of the defendant was pointing a gun into a man's stomach as he told the man to return to his apartment; that single act was the assault charged. The second case, <u>State v. Wasson</u>,⁶ contradicts Sullivan's proposition, as the case notes that it has "long been established that the provoking act must also be related to the eventual assault as to which self-defense is claimed." 54 Wn. App. at 159. The court in <u>Wasson</u> disapproved use of a first-aggressor instruction because there was no evidence the defendant initiated any act toward the man he shot until that final assault.⁷ 54 Wn. App. at 159-60.

Sullivan cites no case holding that a first-aggressor instruction is not warranted if the provocation is part of a single course of conduct that culminates in the charged assault. This Court can conclude that after diligent search, she has found none. Roberts v. Atlantic Richfield, 88 Wn.2d 887, 895, 568 P.2d 764 (1977). Sullivan cites two cases for their analysis of whether a

⁵ 43 Wn. App. 893, 721 P.2d 12 (1986).

⁶ 54 Wn. App. 156, 772 P.2d 1039 (1989).

⁷ Wasson was in a fight with his cousin in an alley when a man (Reed) visiting in a nearby apartment came down to complain about the noise. 54 Wn. App. 157-58. Reed attacked the cousin, then came at Wasson, who shot Reed in the chest. <u>Id.</u>

series of acts constitutes a single course of conduct, but those cases did not involve self-defense instructions: one was a double jeopardy analysis,⁸ the other was an analysis of whether a unanimity instruction was required.⁹

It would be illogical to require that the provoking act must be separate from the course of conduct that resulted in the charged assault. The point of the first-aggressor doctrine is that the defendant cannot provoke a violent action by another and then excuse his own violent response as self-defense. The provocation, the response, and the charged assault must be connected. <u>Bea</u>, 162 Wn. App. at 577.

Other cases upholding the giving of a first-aggressor instruction illustrate that the provocation must be part of the same continuing series of events as the charged assault. For example, in Riley, supra, the evidence of provocation that warranted the first-aggressor instruction was that the defendant drew a gun and aimed it at Jamarillo, then when he believed Jamarillo was reaching for his own gun, the defendant shot Jamarillo. 137 Wn.2d at 906-10. In Ward, supra, the evidence of provocation that warranted the instruction was the defendant's initiation of (or introduction of a

⁸ State v. Villanueva Gonzalez, 180 Wn.2d 975, 329 P.3d 78 (2014).

⁹ State v. Rodriguez, 187 Wn. App. 922, 936-37, 352 P.3d 200 (2015).

weapon to) the fight that ended with the defendant stabbing the victim in the back, killing him. 125 Wn. App. at 142, 147-49. The facts in Bea are very similar to the facts at bar: after an initial fight in the home of the victim (Cruz), the defendant began to leave, then veered into the kitchen, grabbed a knife, grappled with and stabbed Cruz. Bea, 162 Wn. App. 573-74. The court held that an aggressor instruction was properly given because the defendant was not entitled to invoke self-defense if he provoked Cruz by instigating the original fistfight. Id. at 577-78. See also Davis, 119 Wn.2d at 666 (first-aggressor instruction warranted based on evidence that defendant punched Gunderson and when Locke intervened, defendant stabbed Locke).

Sullivan's argument that words alone are not sufficient to support a first-aggressor instruction is irrelevant in this case. The jury was instructed that the provocation must be an "intentional violent act" to preclude reliance on self-defense. CP 40. Words that are accompanied by threatening behavior do warrant an aggressor instruction. Anderson, 144 Wn. App. at 90 (the defendant yelled as he leaned over a person with his hands on the arms of the chair that she was sitting in – this was more than words and supported the first-aggressor instruction). The evidence that Sullivan pulled

Cessill off the couch, and stood over him with fists raised, threatening to punch him, constitutes threatening behavior, not just words.

b. The First-Aggressor Instruction Given Was A Proper Statement of the Law.

Sullivan's claim that the first-aggressor instruction given was too vague and too broad is entirely without merit. Sullivan challenges the instruction's statement that a qualifying provocative act must be an "intentional violent act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent act." CP 40. That language is not only sufficient, it is more narrow than required. It does not constitute error.

The pattern instruction on the first-aggressor doctrine uses this language: "No person may, by <u>any intentional act</u> reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self defense...." Washington Pattern Jury Instructions, Criminal; 11 Wash. Prac. 16.04 (emphasis added). The language of that instruction has been approved by the Supreme Court. Wingate, 155 Wn.2d at 821; <u>Riley</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 908-14.

The trial court in this case narrowed the language of the instruction even further, providing in Instruction 14: "No person may, by any intentional violent act reasonably likely to provoke a

belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense...." CP 40 (emphasis added). The instruction was more narrow than necessary – it did not suffer from vagueness.

Sullivan relies on a case that found an older version of the pattern instruction unconstitutionally vague, State v. Arthur, 42 Wn. App. 120, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985). The instruction disapproved in Arthur referred to "an unlawful act" that created a necessity to respond. Id. at 121. The court concluded that this term was too broad because it could encompass accidents, and held that the provocation must be an intentional act. Id. at 124. This defect was cured with the current pattern language, "by any intentional act." WPIC 16.04. The trial court's requirement of "any intentional violent act" cured the vagueness problem identified in Arthur.

Sullivan contends that Instruction 14 was too vague and broad because the court did not specify which intentional acts would constitute provocation. Instructions are simply required to correctly state the law, however, not apply it to the facts of the case. Riley, 137 Wn.2d at 909. As previously argued, Sullivan's aggression toward Cessill or her punching Bohannon in the face could be a basis for a jury to conclude that Sullivan was the first aggressor. The jury could not have relied on the stabbing itself as

provocation that negated self-defense, because under Instruction 14, the provocation must create a necessity for the defendant's use of force. CP 40. Thus, the same act could not be both the provocation and the assault. Instruction 14 was a proper statement of the law.

5. THE DEFENSE INSTRUCTION REGARDING MULTIPLE ASSAILANTS WAS DEFECTIVE AND SUPERFLUOUS, AND PROPERLY REJECTED.

Sullivan claims that the trial court erred in refusing her proposed instruction regarding the use of force against multiple assailants. That instruction was a comment on the evidence, however, and was properly refused on that basis. Further, the instruction was superfluous, so it was within the court's discretion to refuse it even if it was not defective.

Sullivan's proposed instruction follows:

As it is within the realm of common experience that two or more people are more likely to inflict injury than only one person, the amount of force that is necessary to prevent the infliction of injury, and thus is not unlawful, may vary with the number of persons the defendant reasonably believes are about to commit or assist in an offense against a person.

CP 75. In the trial court, Sullivan argued that it "add[ed] information to the jury as far as the fact that what's necessary is going to vary

depending on how many aggressors there are," noting that the language was taken from <u>State v. Irons</u>, 101 Wn. App. 544, 4 P.3d 174 (2000). RP 486. The court declined the instruction without explanation, and Sullivan offered no further argument. RP 486. This Court can affirm that decision on any ground within the record. <u>State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d 229, 242-43, 937 P.2d 587 (1997).

The proposed instruction was properly rejected because it was an impermissible comment on the evidence. A trial court may properly refuse to give an instruction if it is flawed in any way. Crossen v. Skagit Cty., 100 Wn.2d 355, 361, 669 P.2d 1244 (1983). A judge is constitutionally prohibited from "conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case" or instructing a jury that "matters of fact have been established as a matter of law." Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16; State v. Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006) (quoting State v. Becker, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997)). The proposed instruction included this premise: "it is within the realm of common experience that two or more people are more likely to inflict injury than only one person." CP 75. That was a prohibited comment on the facts in the case, suggested the court's attitude toward the amount of force that could reasonably be used in the case, and

inaccurately conveyed that the proposition is a matter of law, so the court properly refused the instruction on the basis that it was flawed.

The instruction also was properly refused because it was cumulative, and the relevant law was covered by other instructions given by the court. Evaluation of the propriety of the trial court's refusal of an instruction must be in the context of the instructions as a whole. State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654-55, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). A trial court is not required to give an instruction that is cumulative, collateral to, or repetitious of instructions given. Id. at 655. The legal subject matter of the proposed instruction was already contained in the trial court's instruction on lawful force, Instruction 15. CP 41.

Instruction 15 provided, in relevant part:

The use of, attempt to use, or offer to use force upon or toward the person of another is lawful when used, attempted, or offered by a person who reasonably believes that he or she is about to be injured in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than is necessary.

The person using or offering to use the force may employ such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of the incident.

CP 41. This language is from the current pattern instruction on the use of lawful force in self-defense. 11 Wash. Prac. 17.02. The trial court used the language in the instruction proposed by Sullivan.¹⁰ CP 68; RP 492-93.

The language of the instruction disapproved in <u>Irons</u> required the defendant reasonably believe *the victim* intended to inflict harm and the defendant reasonably believe there was imminent danger of *that harm* being accomplished. 101 Wn. App. at 550, 552. The court in <u>Irons</u> held the words "the victim" and "that harm" could be read to require the jury to consider only the actions of the victim in assessing the defendant's reasonable belief as to the danger posed. <u>Id.</u> at 552. Because the case involved multiple assailants, the court concluded that it could be misleading. <u>Id.</u> at 553.

In the case at bar, the use of force instruction, Instruction 15, does not refer to force used by the victim, and could not mislead the jury in evaluating the use of force against multiple assailants.

Instruction 15 provides that the use of force is lawful when used by a person who "reasonably believes that he or she is about to be injured in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against the person, and when the force is not more than is necessary." CP 41.

¹⁰ Sullivan agreed that the paragraph relating to malicious trespass or interference with property should be removed. RP 493.

That language does not limit the source of the danger to acts of the victim – it does not limit the source of the danger in any way. The instruction then provides that the person using the force may use such force as a reasonably prudent person would "under the same or similar conditions as they appeared to the person, taking into consideration all of the facts and circumstances known to the person at the time of the incident." CP 41. There is no suggestion that the jurors are limited to consideration of the acts of the eventual victim in determining whether the force used by the defendant was lawful.

If the language of the lawful force instruction is misleading or inaccurate, as Sullivan argues on appeal, the error is invited error, as the trial court used the instruction that Sullivan proposed.

Compare CP 41, 75; RP 492-93. A defendant who invites error may not claim on appeal that he is entitled to reversal based on that error. State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).

6. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED NO ERROR IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Sullivan claims that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing by making an argument that was an unwarranted inference

from the evidence and an improper appeal to jurors' emotions. This claim should be rejected. The challenged argument was that in her testimony, Sullivan used language suggesting that the men could have intended a sexual assault, and that she testified in that manner to achieve an emotional reaction. 10RP 83. The remark, which drew no objection, was a fair argument based on Sullivan's testimony. Defense counsel at trial was not surprised by the inference, did not object to it, and appeared to reinforce it in her own argument. If the remark was improper, any prejudice could have been cured by a simple instruction, and any error was not a basis for reversal.

A defendant who claims that prosecutorial error or misconduct deprived the defendant of a fair trial generally bears the burden of establishing that the conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-60, 764 n.14, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). To establish prejudice, the defendant must show a substantial likelihood that the improper conduct affected the jury's verdict. Id. In analyzing potential prejudice, improper

¹¹ The exception to this rule is that if the defendant has established that the prosecutor flagrantly or apparently intentionally appealed to racial bias in a way that undermined the defendant's credibility or the presumption of innocence, the State must establish beyond a reasonable doubt that the misconduct did not affect the jury's verdict. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). In this case, there is no claim that there was any appeal to racial bias at any point during the trial.

comments are not viewed in isolation, but in the context of the total argument, the issues, the evidence, and the instructions given to the jury. <u>Id.</u> at 764 n.14; <u>State v. Rafay</u>, 168 Wn. App. 734, 824, 829-30, 285 P.3d 83 (2012).

If defense counsel failed to object, a conviction will not be reversed for prosecutorial error or misconduct unless the improper conduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it resulted in enduring prejudice "so inflammatory that it could not have been defused by an instruction." State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). The absence of an objection by defense counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of trial." State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n.2, 134 P.2d 221 (2006) (emphasis in original) (quoting State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990)). Counsel for the defendant may not remain silent, hoping for a favorable verdict, and then claim misconduct for the first time on appeal. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 93, 882 P.2d 747 (1994).

In closing argument, the State is accorded wide latitude to argue the evidence and reasonable inferences from that evidence.

<u>Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 577. The distinction between a permissible

inference and an impermissible reference to a matter outside the record was explained in McKenzie, supra. The court noted that in a previous case where there was no evidence that the defendant threatened his first wife with a gun, it was reversible error for the prosecutor to assert in closing argument that he had done so.

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